
This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Claudio Chiarolla, Marie-Annick Moreau, Nicole Schabus, and Elsa Tsioumani. 
The Digital Editor is Francis Dejon. The Editor is Pamela S. Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org>. The Director of IISD Reporting Services is Langston James “Kimo” Goree VI 
<kimo@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the United Kingdom (through the Department for International Development – DFID), the Government of the 
United States of America (through the Department of State Bureau of Oceans and International Environmental and Scientific Affairs), the Government of Canada (through 
CIDA), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the German Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ), the German Federal Ministry for the 
Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety (BMU), the Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the European Commission (DG-ENV), and the Italian Ministry 
for the Environment, Land and Sea. General Support for the Bulletin during 2009 is provided by the Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government of Australia, 
the Austrian Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry, Environment and Water Management, the Ministry of Environment of Sweden, the New Zealand Ministry of Foreign 
Affairs and Trade, SWAN International, Swiss Federal Office for the Environment (FOEN), the Finnish Ministry for Foreign Affairs, the Japanese Ministry of Environment 
(through the Institute for Global Environmental Strategies - IGES), the Japanese Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (through the Global Industrial and Social Progress 
Research Institute - GISPRI), the Government of Iceland, and the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). The opinions expressed in the Bulletin are those of the 
authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of IISD or other donors. Excerpts from the Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications with appropriate academic 
citation. For information on the Bulletin, including requests to provide reporting services, contact the Director of IISD Reporting Services at <kimo@iisd.org>, +1-646-536-
7556 or 300 East 56th St., 11A, New York, New York 10022, United States of America. The ENB Team at the Third session of the Governing Body of the ITPGR can be 
contacted by e-mail at <elsa@iisd.org>.

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations

Online at http://www.iisd.ca/biodiv/itpgrgb3/

PGRGB-3
#4

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD)Vol. 9 No. 469 Thursday, 4 June 2009

Earth Negotiations Bulletin

ITPGR GB 3 HIGHLIGHTS: 
WEDNESDAY, 3 JUNE 2009

Delegates to the third session of the Governing Body (GB 3) 
of the International Treaty on Plant Genetic Resources for Food 
and Agriculture (the Treaty or ITPGR) met in plenary to address 
the relationship with the Global Crop Diversity Trust, the 
draft business plan, implementation of the Multilateral System 
(MLS) and the Third Party Beneficiary. The budget committee 
met briefly in the evening, followed by a contact group on 
compliance.

PLENARY
FUNDING STRATEGY IMPLEMENTATION:   Ana 

Berretta (Uruguay), Co-Chair of the contact group on the 
funding strategy, reported on Tuesday night’s consultations. 
She said delegates made progress, and suggested that the group 
continue its work. Belgium, for the EUROPEAN REGIONAL 
GROUP (ERG), noted that good efforts were made, and that 
a contact group on compliance should also be established. 
Ecuador, for LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN 
GROUP (GRULAC), with IRAN, opposed establishing a 
compliance contact group until critical remaining issues are 
resolved. She suggested, and delegates agreed, to move on with 
the agenda in plenary and return to the funding strategy later.

GLOBAL CROP DIVERSITY TRUST: Margaret Catley-
Carlson, Chairperson of the Executive Board of the Global 
Crop Diversity Trust, presented the report of the Trust (IT/
GB-3/09/10), explained how the Trust acquires its funds and 
outlined the draft fund disbursement strategy (IT/GB-3/09/Inf. 
8). She highlighted the Trust’s support for capacity building, 
including development and provision of a genebank management 
system and a global accession level system, and explained the 
difference between endowment and project funding.

Many delegates expressed appreciation for the Trust’s work 
and welcomed its report. Australia, for the SOUTHWEST 
PACIFIC, noted the significant achievements of the Trust, 
including its work on ex situ conservation and capacity building. 
The ERG welcomed further interaction between the Trust 
and the Governing Body, and highlighted the importance of 
activities for adaptation of crops to climate change. GRULAC 
underscored the need for: strengthening the communication 
mechanism and building capacity for documentation systems in 
the region; greater transparency in the allocation of resources; 
and reviewing the Trust’s policies as to the provision of funds 
to non-parties. The AFRICAN GROUP underscored that 
the Governing Body should have a greater role in providing 

policy guidance to the Trust. Canada, for NORTH AMERICA, 
supported the Trust’s disbursement strategy, and continuous 
and transparent consultations between the Governing Body 
and the Trust. Iran, for the NEAR EAST, called for formalized 
communication between the Trust and the Treaty, and for the 
disbursement strategy to prioritize developing countries. 

BRAZIL recalled that the Trust alone cannot cover the whole 
range of activities necessary to preserve crop genetic diversity, 
and urged parties and donors to re-establish a balance between 
the core budget of the Treaty, the benefit-sharing fund, and the 
Trust. NORWAY highlighted the importance of the Svalbard 
Global Seed Vault for food security in the climate change 
context. ANGOLA warned that, without funds, the Treaty risks 
being overshadowed by the Trust.

USC CANADA commended progress made by the Trust, 
but called on the global community to make funding of ex 
situ genebanks conditional on supporting on-farm in situ 
conservation. The INTERNATIONAL SEED FEDERATION 
gave examples of the seed sector’s support to the Treaty and 
supported that all crops for food and agriculture, rather than 
Annex I crops only, be covered by the benefit-sharing fund.

BUSINESS PLAN: The Secretariat introduced the item 
(IT/GB-3/09/9 and Inf.12), noting that the draft business 
plan needs further elaboration for adoption at GB 4. Many 
delegates thanked Switzerland for hosting an informal meeting 
on the development of the business plan. The ERG supported 
the elements of the possible draft decision. GRULAC noted 
that the business plan has to be flexible and not become an 
obstacle to Governing Body decisions. The NEAR EAST and 
the AFRICAN GROUP prioritized completion of the funding 
strategy.

With regard to intersessional work, delegates discussed three 
proposals: to establish an ad hoc committee, as proposed by 
GRULAC but opposed by most; to request the Bureau and the 
Secretariat to develop the draft on the basis of further input from 
parties, as supported by many; or to set up a working group to 
communicate electronically, as proposed by Cameroon. The 
decision is pending.

MLS IMPLEMENTATION: The Secretariat introduced 
the item, including documents on: a review of the MLS 
implementation; an assessment of progress on the inclusion 
of plant genetic resources for food and agriculture (PGRFA) 
in the MLS; a review of implementation and operation of the 
standard material transfer agreement (SMTA); and a review of 
the implementation of the SMTA as used by the international 
agricultural research centres (IARCs) of the Consultative Group 



Thursday, 4 June 2009   Vol. 9 No. 469  Page 2
Earth Negotiations Bulletin

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR) for non-Annex 
I PGRFA (IT/GB-3/09/12, 13, 14, 15 and Inf.15). The Secretariat 
outlined short-term priorities, namely to document materials 
and exchange under the MLS, and to assist users in resolving 
legal and technical uncertainties in using the SMTA. He noted 
the limited information available on the inclusion of PGRFA by 
natural and legal persons, and on levels of payment under the 
SMTA, and suggested deferring these issues to GB 4. 

Chair Modesto Fernández (Cuba) invited comments on, and 
parties submitted written amendments to, the draft resolutions 
contained in the documents. The ERG expressed its commitment 
to strengthening the MLS. GRULAC stressed that more human 
and financial resources are necessary. The AFRICAN GROUP 
stressed the need to include more collections in the MLS, 
including those held by the private sector. BRAZIL highlighted 
that the Brazilian Agricultural Research Corporation has made 
available a representative part of its collection of Annex I crops 
through the MLS.

On a draft resolution on MLS implementation (IT/
GB-3/09/13), CANADA asked to add “consistent with Article 
12.3(b)” to a paragraph on information systems documenting 
PGFRA, noting that such systems should not become tracking 
systems. The ERG and CANADA, opposed by ANGOLA, 
asked to delete a request for updating the Code of Conduct for 
Plant Germplasm Collecting and Transfer. CANADA suggested 
deleting a specific reference to the Joint Capacity-building 
programme, and the Cook Islands, for the PACIFIC REGION, 
with the AFRICAN GROUP, opposed.

On a draft resolution on inclusion of PGRFA in the MLS by 
natural and legal persons (IT/GB-3/09/12), GRULAC suggested 
that information on parties’ measures to encourage natural 
and legal persons to include PGRFA in the MLS be provided 
“according to national capacities.” The ERG noted that only 
three notifications by natural and legal persons had been received 
and, with CANADA, supported deferring the issue to GB 4. 
He suggested a number of revisions to allow for an effective 
assessment avoiding bureaucratic burden. 

On a draft resolution on implementation and operation of the 
SMTA (IT/GB-3/09/14), the ERG pointed to lack of information 
and supported postponing the issue to no later than GB 5. 
CANADA added that the proposed ad hoc technical committee 
on the SMTA should have the mandate of addressing the issues 
identified in the first meeting of experts on the SMTA and that 
the Secretariat should not provide legal advice to parties. 

On the experience of the IARCs with the SMTA (IT/
GB-3/09/15 and Inf.15), the CGIAR reported that the use of the 
SMTA for Annex I and non-Annex I PGRFA has been largely 
positive, and noted that an intersessional mechanism to provide 
guidance on outstanding technical and legal questions would 
be appreciated. The ERG welcomed the CGIAR procedure of 
using only one SMTA for the transfer of Annex I and non-Annex 
I materials. BRAZIL noted that whenever reference is made 
to using the SMTA for non-Annex I PGRFA, the specification 
that they were collected before the entry into force of the Treaty 
should be included in the text. 

THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARY: Javad Mozafari (Iran), 
Chair of the Third Party Beneficiary committee, presented 
the committee’s report (IT/GB-3/09/11 Rev. 1), highlighting: 
drafting of Third Party Beneficiary procedures and operations; 
proposed amendments to the financial rules providing for the 
establishment of the Third Party Beneficiary operating reserve 
within the core administrative budget; and information that the 
Third Party Beneficiary would require to carry out its roles and 
responsibilities. Noting that restriction on information or lack of 
financial resources would make it impossible for the Third Party 

Beneficiary to exercise its rights in case of breach of an SMTA, 
the G-77/CHINA stressed that the committee report was adopted 
unanimously; called for its approval en bloc; and suggested that 
the budget committee consider the proposed amendments to the 
financial rules. The Czech Republic, for the EU, supported the 
draft Third Party Beneficiary procedures, but on the Third Party 
Beneficiary operations, he suggested bracketing a subparagraph 
detailing the information to be provided by the SMTA parties. 
SWITZERLAND supported the draft resolution on the Third 
Party Beneficiary operations and, with AUSTRALIA, supported 
the establishment of a Third Party Beneficiary operational 
reserve. ECUADOR expressed disappointment at certain 
delegates’ attempts to reopen results arrived at unanimously 
by the committee. CANADA said that North America had 
not been represented at the last session of the committee. 
Noting that violations would be rare and do not justify onerous 
requirements, he agreed with the ERG regarding the need for 
amendments.

Chair Fernández suggested adopting the procedures as 
proposed and reconsidering the operations on the basis of 
comments in plenary. He also suggested referring the proposed 
amendments to the financial rules to the budget committee. 
BRAZIL suggested the budget committee consider all 
outstanding issues regarding the financial rules.

ORGANIZATIONAL MATTERS: Regional groups made 
the following nominations for the Bureau: Cosima Hufler 
(Austria) for ERG; Mohd Shukor Nordin (Malaysia) for Asia; 
Marco Valicenti (Canada) for North America; Javad Mozafari 
(Iran) for the Near East; Mohamed Kharrat (Tunisia) for Africa; 
and Fiona Bartlett (Australia) for the Southwest Pacific. The 
GRULAC nomination is pending.

In the evening, the ERG presented a compromise in order 
to move negotiations forward: he proposed removing the 
brackets around the financial objective of US$116 million for 
the funding strategy, on the understanding that: a contact group 
on compliance will convene the same evening following a 
brief budget committee meeting, and will work for at least two 
hours; the contact group on the funding strategy will meet on 
Thursday; and an informal group of experts will resolve the 
technical issues regarding the Third Party Beneficiary. Delegates 
accepted the compromise proposal and elected René Lefeber 
(the Netherlands) and Javad Mozafari (Iran) as Co-Chairs of the 
contact group on compliance.

IN THE CORRIDORS
Following Tuesday’s fireworks, Wednesday started off 

rather uneventfully, as delegates ably navigated through several 
issues on the agenda. Even the potentially explosive item of the 
Governing Body’s relationship with the Global Crop Diversity 
Trust failed to ignite. Delegates seemed content to welcome 
the “magnificent” work of the Trust and bask in its financial 
success rather than wrangle over control of the purse strings, as 
has happened in earlier sessions. Nonetheless, in the corridors 
some delegates remarked critically that a number of parties who 
had made significant donations to the Trust had not made any 
contributions to the Treaty’s core budget. 

However, fireworks went off again as dusk settled over 
Tunis, with accusations of bad faith made over text on the 
Third Party Beneficiary, and for a tense moment it looked like 
the meeting might hang in the balance. However, when the 
regional groups returned for a late evening plenary, an olive 
branch was extended via a compromise proposal to remove the 
brackets around the US$116 million objective of the funding 
strategy in return for establishing – finally – a contact group on 
compliance. As a happy delegate commented “Let the meeting 
begin!”



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


